
 
 

 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE, SAFETY AND GROWTH 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 
9 December 2019 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
A Meeting of the Infrastructure, Safety and Growth Scrutiny Committee will be held in 
Committee Room 1, Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth, B79 7BZ on 
Tuesday, 17th December, 2019 at 6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are requested 
to attend. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 6) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (personal and/or 
personal and prejudicial) in any matters which are to be considered at this 
meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a personal interest or personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of which they have dispensation, they should 
specify the nature of such interest.  Members should leave the room if they 
have a personal and prejudicial interest in respect of which they do not 
have a dispensation.   
 

 

4 Update from the Chair  

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

5 Responses to Reports of the Infrastructure Safety & Growth Committee  

 Update on responses received to Reports of the Infrastructure Safety & Growth 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

6 Consideration of Matters referred to the Infrastructure Safety & Growth 
Committee from Cabinet or Council  

 (Discussion item) 
 

7 2019/20 Forward Plan  

 (Discussion item – link to Forward Plan is attached) 
 
http://democracy.tamworth.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=120&RD=0&bcr=1 
 

8 Working Group Updates  

 To receive updates from any Working Groups 
 

9 Update on Fire Safety (Pages 7 - 14) 

 (Report of the Assistant Director, Assets) 
 

10 Infrastructure Safety & Growth Scrutiny Committee Work Plan (Pages 15 - 
16) 

 (Update and discussion on the Infrastructure Safety & Growth Scrutiny Work 
Plan) 
 

11 Exclusion of the Press and Public  

http://democracy.tamworth.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=120&RD=0&bcr=1


 To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the 
following resolution:- 
 
“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public  interest in disclosing the 
information to the public” 
 
At the time this agenda is published no representations have been received that 
this part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
 
 

12 Future High Streets Fund Update (Pages 17 - 22) 

 (Report of the Assistant Director for Growth and Regeneration) 
 

   _________________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 

Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 

be found here for further information. 

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 

possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 

of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 

public being accidentally filmed.    

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 

location of any cameras when selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 

here 

 
 
 
To Councillors: S Goodall, A Farrell, M Bailey, R Bilcliff, P Brindley, T Clements, 
Dr S Peaple and P Thurgood 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

INFRASTRUCTURE, SAFETY AND 
GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 25th NOVEMBER 2019 
 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor S Goodall (Chair), Councillors A Farrell, R Bilcliff, 

P Brindley, T Clements, Dr S Peaple, P Thurgood and R Ford 

CABINET: Councillor S Doyle 

 
The following officers were present: Colin John (Environmental Health Officer), 
Paul Holmes (Environmental Protection Officer) and Jo Hutchison (Democratic 
Services, Scrutiny and Elections Officer) 
 
 
Apologies received from: Councillor(s) M Bailey 
 
 

42 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The Minutes of the previous Infrastructure, Safety and Growth Scrutiny 
Committee held on 22nd October 2019 were approved and signed as a correct 
record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor T Clements and seconded by Councillor Dr S Peaple) 
 

43 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

44 UPDATE FROM THE CHAIR  
 
There were no updates reported by the Chair. 
 

45 SCRUTINY OF THE PROPOSED LICENSING POLICY 2020-2023  
 
The Report to the Licensing Committee of the Assistant Director, Growth and 
Regeneration on the Adoption of the Proposed Licensing Policy 2020-2023 was 
presented by the Environmental Health Officer. 
 
The Report advised the Licensing Committee of the outcome of the consultations 
regarding the review of Tamworth’s statement of licensing policy and proposed 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Infrastructure, Safety and Growth 
Scrutiny Committee 

25 November 2019 

 

 

2 
 

cumulative impact assessment and provided Members with an opportunity to 
consider the revised policy and cumulative impact assessment before its 
consideration by Cabinet and Council. 
 
The Committee was updated on the amendments suggested by the Licensing 
Committee including the additional recommendation made by that Committee and 
to be considered by Cabinet and Council. 
 
The Committee discussed aspects of the proposed policy, in particular the role of 
the cumulative impact assessment to guide the Council when in receipt of new 
applications.  It was reported that there would be rebuttable presumptions that 
new applications would normally be refused if representations about cumulative 
impact on licensing objectives were received, unless it could be demonstrated 
that the operation of the premises involved would not add to the cumulative 
impact already being experienced.   
 
The Committee also discussed the interaction of this policy with the Gambling 
Policy, and in particular how the law applied to less than 3 gambling machines in 
licensed premises. 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee supported the Report with the suggested 
amendments. 
 
(Moved by Councillor R Bilcliff and seconded by Councillor S Goodall). 
 

46 2019/20 FORWARD PLAN  
 
No additional items were identified from the Forward Plan for consideration by this 
Committee. 
 

  

 Chair  
 

 

Page 6



Building a Safer Future – 
Tamworth Response 

 

Fire safety in High-Rise Residential Buildings 
 
Introduction 
 
Two years on from the Grenfell Tower fire the government has published a 
detailed set of proposals for consultation on the future of fire safety in high-
rise residential buildings. The key messages coming from this consultation 
process are:- 
 
• Clearer responsibilities for those building or managing high-rise 

buildings  

• Giving a stronger voice in the system and better information for 
residents  

• Having greater oversight by regulators  

• Tougher enforcement when things go wrong 
 
Following on from the first phase of the inquiry we are seeing some 
recommendations come forward that are more specific than the proposals 
coming from the MHCLG consultations. Some key areas identified are as 
follows:- 
 

 Considerations for evacuation 

 Provision and maintenance of detailed building and resident 
information for use by the Fire Service 

 Inspections of Lifts specifically in relation to their use in the event of a 
fire 

 Personal Evacuation Plans for less able residents 

 Improved signage to assist the Fire Service 

 Provision of simple to understand instructions to all residents on 
matters relating to fire safety (including evacuation). 

 Improved fire safety communications with residents in the event of a 
fire. 

 Regular inspection of fire doors (across the wider flatted estate) 
 
The new regulations are likely to apply to all residential buildings over 
18metres in height although this is still a topic for debate. If it is ultimately 
decided that the limit will be set at 18mit will bring the six Town Centre high-
rise blocks along with the block at Eringden into scope. There is also likely to 
be a greater focus on fire safety in other residential buildings where there are 
multiple occupiers sharing a degree of common space. Recent discussions 
with the Fire Service have indicated that the definition of high-rise may even 

Page 7

Agenda Item 9



be extended further to include buildings in excess of 11m in height, this being 
the limit that the Fire Service are able to evacuate using a platform. If at some 
point in the future the 11m limit is used this will bring any building of 4 storeys 
or above into scope. 
 
It is anticipated that fire safety will be an integrated consideration throughout 
the full life cycle of the buildings from design and build through to 
maintenance, management and occupation and will impact on various areas 
of the Council including Planning, Building Control, Procurement, Housing and 
Assets; fire safety will become systems based and embedded in all 
management processes. Maintenance and improvement costs will most likely 
increase and we are already seeing third party contractors becoming much 
more risk averse when it comes to working in high-rise blocks. Alongside this 
insurers are also seeking to limit their liability when insuring contractors 
working in high-rise blocks. 
 
Proposals 
 
There are a number of proposals set out in the consultation, some are likely to 
have a greater impact on Tamworth Borough Council than others given that 
we own high-rise residential buildings but are unlikely to be seeing any new 
high-rise buildings being developed. 
 
Safety case approach which manages the risk in buildings in scope and 
includes: 
 

 a comprehensive description of the building – including information on 
preventive measures and protective systems 

 an understanding of the life-critical risks (for fire and structural safety) 
and evidence about how they are being proactively and proportionally 
managed for safe occupation; ‘as built’ information 

 evidence gained through regular inspection, reviews and maintenance 
of the building 

 the safety management system for the building, which sets out the 
management structure employed 

 evidence of continuous improvement over time i.e. a living document 
that references the most up-to-date versions of supporting evidence 

 mandatory occurrence reporting – similar to what is practiced in the 
Civil Aviation industry where systems are in place to facilitate 
whistleblowing and reporting of fire and structural safety issues by staff 

 emergency preparedness so that appropriate actions are taken to 
mitigate hazards and minimise incidents 

 evidence that legislation, requirements, standards and policies 
applicable have been met or complied with reference to other 
documents, such as a Resident Engagement Strategy, a Fire and 
Emergency File and any relevant structural or fire safety inspections. 

 Increased customer intelligence and the development of Personal 
Evacuation Plans for less able residents. 

 Mechanisms to facilitate evacuation. 

Page 8



 
Introduction of a Duty Holder/Accountable Person to manage and reduce risks 
through the life of the occupation of the building. 

 

 ensure that buildings which are in scope of the new regime and are 
under their control are registered with the building safety regulator  

 ensure that the building safety regulator has been provided with an 
address in England or Wales at which the building safety regulator can 
serve notices on the accountable person  

 ensure that a named building safety manager is appointed for each of 
those buildings, that the building safety manager meets the 
competency requirements set by the building safety regulator and are 
registered with the regulator  

 ensure that adequate measures are in place to manage building safety 
in those buildings, including ensuring that the building safety manager 
has access to the funding and co-operation necessary to carry out their 
function  

 comply with all requirements in the building safety certificate that will be 
issued by the building safety regulator  

 carry out and provide the building safety regulator with a safety case 
demonstrating that they, as the accountable person, are taking action 
to ensure that the building safety risk to occupants is reduced so far as 
is reasonably practicable and complies with all requirements arising 
from the safety case  

 be responsible for the “golden thread” of building information 
 
Appointment of a Building Safety Manager to ensure that the buildings are 
safely managed, and maintained, they would oversee safety works and would 
engage with residents as well as any other third parties with an interest in or 
working on the buildings. The duties are likely to include:- 



 ensure that those employed to maintain and manage the building have 
the necessary skills, knowledge and experience  

 maintain information management systems to facilitate safe 
management of the building  

 maintain the safety case for the building so that risks are proactively 
identified and mitigating measures put in place and maintained  

 ensure that necessary and appropriate building remediation is 
undertaken to ensure that the conditions set out in the building safety 
certificate are met  

 engage with residents in safe management of their building through a 
Resident Engagement Strategy that includes routes of escalation for 
resident concerns  

 ensure that fire risk assessments for the whole building are undertaken 
and reviewed regularly and any recommendations are undertaken in a 
timely manner  

 be responsible for reporting mandatory occurrences to the building 
safety regulator.  

Page 9



 
It is anticipated that all buildings within scope will require a ‘building safety 
certificate’. The certificate will identify the accountable person, the building 
safety manager, the buildings in scope and the conditions for ensuring the 
building is safe for residents. These will include mandatory, voluntary and 
special conditions. It will be mandatory for a summary of the building safety 
certificate to be displayed in a prominent part of the common parts of the 
building, so that occupants can readily identify who is responsible for the 
safety of their building and the conditions that must be complied with. 
 
The accountable person will have to: 



 ensure those employed in the maintenance and management of the 
building’s safety have sufficient skills, knowledge and experience to 
meet the building safety requirements  

 secure and provide sufficient funds and co-operation to ensure 
appropriate building safety management  

 establish or maintain information management systems including 
provision of the golden thread  

 operate a safety case regime where risks and mitigations are 
proactively identified and mitigated  

 engage residents in the safe management of their building through a 
Resident Engagement Strategy including routes of escalation for 
concerns, and providing required information to residents  

 ensure fire risk assessments are undertaken for the whole building and 
reviewed regularly and any recommendations are undertaken in a 
timely manner establish and operate a mandatory occurrence reporting 
regime 

 
Residents will have to be given information on building safety, they must also 
be clearly informed of the role they play in keeping buildings safe. The 
information that will have to be actively promoted and communicated is:- 



 measures in place to mitigate potential fire and building safety risks to 
residents, e.g. fire precautions  

 how to reduce the risk of fire in individual dwellings e.g. by not storing 
flammable material  

 process for reporting a fire risk and/or raising any other safety concerns  

 procedures to follow where a fire occurs in the building, including for 
evacuation  

 the different roles and responsibilities of the accountable person, 
building safety manager and residents  

 key information from the Resident Engagement Strategy e.g. contact 
details of the accountable person and Building Safety Manager  

 Increased customer intelligence and the development of Personal 
Evacuation plans for less able residents. 

 Introduce mechanisms to facilitate evacuation. 
 

Page 10



Residents will also have to play a more active role in fire safety within 
buildings and it anticipated that there will be a legal requirement for residents 
to co-operate with the accountable person/building manager. This will clearly 
have an impact on not only direct tenants but also Leaseholders and their 
tenants. It is not yet know how this will impact on improvements that can be 
charged back to Leaseholders or how it will impact on the Leaseholder 
consultation processes. 
 
It is proposed that there will be a new Building Safety Regulator with 
responsibility for maintaining a register of high-rise buildings, details of duty 
holders, oversight of compliance, oversight of professional competencies and 
management of the overall regulatory framework. 
 
The proposals will have implications for Planning and Building Control 
services who will have to consider fire safety through all stages of the 
buildings life. 
 
Current Status 
 
In 2017 the Council introduced a comprehensive fire safety strategy covering 
the high-rise blocks along with other vulnerable buildings. This strategy was 
accompanied by various communications from both the Council and 
Staffordshire Fire & Rescue setting out the Councils approach to fire safety, 
giving advice to residents on their role in fire safety and sought to give 
assurances to residents that fire safety was being treated seriously by the 
Council. 
 
In addition to this the Council has worked closed with Staffordshire Fire & 
Rescue on the development of personal evacuation plans for vulnerable 
residents, has been involved in comprehensive annual fire drills within the 
high-rise blocks and has engaged in a home fire safety programme. It is clear 
that the current strategy will require review in light of current 
recommendations. 
 
The Council currently employs Graham Environmental Services to undertake 
annual Fire risk Assessments of all blocks that require them; this of course 
includes all of those above 18m in height. In addition to these annual Fire Risk 
Assessments quarterly checks are completed of all blocks to ensure that the 
existing fire safety measures are in place and working as they are supposed 
to. Over and above this our cleaning staff will report any obvious items of 
repair that may impact of fire safety on a daily basis. 
 
Some time ago an Autoquench system was installed in the bin store areas of 
all of the high-rise blocks, this system activates in the event of a fire and will 
put sufficient water onto any fire to supress it until the Fire Service arrive, this 
was done as the bin stores have always been considered to be a high risk 
areas for the source of a fire. Following the fire at Lakanal House in London 
Members approved the installation of full fire sprinkler system to all six high-
rise along with the block at Eringden. These works are now underway with two 
blocks nearing completion and the remaining blocks due for completion before 

Page 11



the end of December 2019. The Council has worked closely with Staffordshire 
Fire & Rescue Service on the sprinkler installation project; SFARS remain 
active in the project and attend regular progress meetings. 
 
As part of their corporate social value programme Wates have recently held a 
series of home DIY workshops for residents; representatives from 
Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Services were in attendance at these sessions to 
give residents some practical home fire safety advice. 
 
In addition to the work being done within the high-rise blocks and sheltered 
schemes the Council routinely installs, services and maintains smoke 
detectors in its general needs housing property portfolio; this service would 
include the installation of hard-wired smoke detectors and the replacement of 
backup batteries in existing detectors. 
 
Plans are in place to renew the doors to flats within the high-rise blocks. This 
was due to take place as part of a wider project ongoing within the blocks, 
however following Grenfell comprehensive testing of the current batch of fire 
doors on the market found that many were not fully compliant, as such this 
element of the programme has been put on hold until such time that doors 
come to market that meet all of the necessary fire compliance requirements. 
 
Whatever the outcome of the review the Council would as an absolute 
minimum continue to provide the current level of service and inspection 
regime, however it is likely that going forward this will not be sufficient but will 
form the foundation for the Council being able to meet its future regulatory 
obligations. 
 
Impact on resources 
 
What is clear that even if the Government’s proposals are only partially 
implement there will be some work to be done by the Council and that this will 
have resourcing implications. 
 

Staffing 
 

The obvious impact on staffing will be the introduction of the new role 
of ‘Building Safety Manager’. This person will need to suitably 
qualified and experienced in high-rise fire safety to fulfil the role and 
will need to have sufficient capacity to undertake all of the duties that 
go with it. Not only will the role be responsible for all technical aspects 
of building fire safety but they will also need to take on responsibility 
for engaging with residents on matters of fire safety as well as working 
with contractors to ensure that nothing they do compromises building 
fire safety. 

 
In additional to the ‘Building Safety Manager’ there will, in future, be a 
greater emphasis on management of third party contractors working in 
high-rise buildings. Much more detailed work will need to be carried 
out during the design and procurement phases of any project, there 

Page 12



will need to be comprehensive site management and a 
comprehensive post inspection regime. 

 
The new regulations are likely to require the Council to keep and 
maintain detailed building operations manual. The compilation of this 
manual on the introduction of the regulations is going to be time 
consuming but there will also be a need to keep the manual updated 
any time work is carried out within the building or changes are made. 

 
What is clear is that there will be an increased demand on the 
resident engagement function within housing and that this team will 
also need some additional training in matters relating to fire safety. 
Supplementary to this the collection and regular updating of resident 
information will require adequate resourcing. 
 
Across the Assets team additional training in fire safety will be 
required in order to ensure that all staff likely to be working on high-
rise buildings have the required competencies. 

 
 

Financial 
 
There are a number of matters arising from the new regulations that 
will have a financial impact. Until the regulations have been agreed 
and an implementation timetable announced the exact nature of the 
financial implications can’t be fully predicted. Whatever happens there 
is likely to be an impact on the 30-year HRA Business Plan. 
 
The proposals seem to indicate that we will need a detailed survey of 
each high-rise block. This survey will have to include full floor plans, a 
detailed survey of all key building elements and will result in the 
production of a building manual for each block. This manual will stay 
with the block for its full life cycle and will have to be updated 
throughout the life of the block. The resources do not exist within the 
existing structure to undertake the initial survey work and as such it is 
likely that external consultants will have to be procured. With every 
other high-rise building owner engaging in such activity resources are 
likely to become scarce and the market will reflect this in its pricing. 
 
Software will be key to ensuring the ongoing management of fire risk 
and the building safety manuals arising from the regulations. It is likely 
that we will need a CAD/BIM system to manage the initial building 
plans and to graphically capture any future and ongoing alterations to 
the buildings. We will also need an assets attributes database to 
ensure that all components in the buildings that are related to fire are 
properly catalogued and to record the inspection, alteration, 
maintenance or renewal of these items. This software is already 
available on the market and is being used by some social housing 
providers. 
 

Page 13



The current Fire Risk Assessment regime is likely to be insufficient 
going forward. In preparing detailed plans and fire asset register a 
higher level of invasive Fire Risk Assessment will be required. This 
type of Fire Risk Assessment will be more expensive that the current 
form we use and being invasive will also mean that making good of 
building materials will need to be completed following the surveys.  
There will continue to be a need to carry out the regular Fire Risk 
Assessments, although with the appropriate training it may be 
possible for the Building Safety Manager to complete these. 
 
It is clear that considerable additional and ongoing workload will arise 
from the introduction of these new regulations. External support can 
be procured for some of the initial survey, drawing and database 
setup phases but there is insufficient capacity within the existing 
structure to project manage the implementation phases and then to 
deliver on the ongoing duties of the ‘Building Safety Manager’; anyone 
taking on the role of ‘Building Safety Manager’ will need to have 
appropriate training and be able to demonstrate that they have the 
required competencies. In the early days of the new regulations it is 
likely that people available to fill such a role will be in short supply and 
able to command a high salary. 
 
All staff engaged in working on any aspect of high-rise buildings will 
need appropriate levels of training and may require certified 
competencies. There will be a cost involved in ensuring that the 
appropriate staff have the appropriate level of training and 
competencies to undertake their roles in relation to high-rise. Clearly 
the Assets team will need to undergo the correct training but it is likely 
that caretakers, cleaners and housing management staff will also 
need a level of training and competence in fire related matters. 
 
Resources will be required to undertake the collection and 
maintenance of resident information and for the production and 
ongoing review of Personal Evacuation Plans. The Council will need 
to continue its close working relationship with the Fire Service. 
 
A number of Policy Changes have been identified for the 2020/21 
budget setting process to enable many of the above actions to 
commence. Further and ongoing resources are likely to be required to 
ensure that fire safety compliance is maintained at all times. 

 
External Matters 
 
The above only considers the potential implications for the Council in its 
capacity as a building owner. It is likely that there will be an impact for the 
Council as a Planning Authority and there will be implications for the Council 
in fulfilling its role providing Building Control services as it is anticipated that 
Building Control will in future play a major role in high-rise safety. 

Page 14



Infrastructure, Safety and Growth Scrutiny Work Plan 

 
 
 

 

Work Plan 2019 - 2020 

DATE SUBJECT 

17 December Fire Safety update 

17 December  Future High Street Funds 

TBC Review of taxi evidence 

TBC Public Transport and taxis 

TBC People Helping People ( Community Safety) 

January 2020 CCTV review 

TBC Town Centre Growth 

TBC Events Offer (possible working group) 

March / April 2020 Review of Taxi Licensing Policy – Points 
System – 12 month review 

31 March Crime Figures for Tamworth and Community 
safety (tbc) – Annual update - Staffordshire 
Police to be invited 

When clarity on legislation  Fire Safety Update 

TBC Review of West Midlands Combined Authority 
– Green / Climate Strategy – targets and data 
for Tamworth 

TBC Waste Management developments  

TBC Castle Update 

Upcoming Infrastructure, Safety and Growth Scrutiny Committee 
Meetings 

17 December 2019 

28 January 2020 

31 March 2020 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	9 Update on Fire Safety
	10 Infrastructure Safety & Growth Scrutiny Committee Work Plan
	12 Future High Streets Fund Update

